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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
REPORT OF THE MANAGER TO THE UNITHOLDERS 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product  
 
Introduction 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product (the “Product”) is a product of E Fund Leveraged 
and Inverse Series, an umbrella unit trust established under Hong Kong law. Units of the Product (the “Units”) 
are traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) like stocks. The investment objective 
is to provide Daily investment results, before fees and expenses, which closely correspond to the inverse (-
1x) of the Daily performance of the Hang Seng Index. The Manager of the Product is E Fund Management 
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited and the trustee is Cititrust Limited.  
 
Fund Performance 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product seeks to provide Daily investment results, before 
fees and expenses, which closely correspond to the inverse (-1x) of the Daily performance of the Hang Seng 
Index (the "Index").The Product does not seek to achieve its stated investment objective over a period of time 
greater than one day. As of 31 December 2019, the Net Asset Value per unit of the product was HK$ 4.46, 
and there were 10,000,000 units outstanding. The total size of the fund was approximately HK$ 44.56 million. 
 
A summary of the performance of the Product is given below. 

Cumulative Performance * 

 
Since 

Launch1 YTD 1 Month 3 Months 6 Months 1 Year 
Fund (HK$) -28.0% -14.6% -7.1% -8.7% -2.0% -14.6% 
Index (Price Return) 2 15.1% 9.1% 7.0% 8.0% -1.2% 9.1% 

 
Source: Bloomberg and Hang Seng Index 
*This is indicative only. The actual figure may be different from the estimated figure and may vary from year 
to year. The estimated ongoing charges figure represents the estimated ongoing expenses chargeable to the 
Product expressed as a percentage of the Product’s estimated average NAV. **Fund: NAV-to-NAV return, net 
return with dividend (if any) NOT reinvested. 
1Since launch of the Fund, calculated from 20 March 2017.  
Note: 
Past performance information is not indicative of future performance. Investors may not get back the full 
amount invested. The computation basis of the performance is based on the calendar year / period end, NAV-
To-NAV, with dividend not reinvested. These figures show by how much the Fund increased or decreased in 
value during the calendar year / period being shown. Performance data has been calculated in HK$, including 
ongoing charges and excluding subscription fee and redemption fee you might have to pay. Where no past 
performance is shown there was insufficient data available in that year / period to provide performance. 
2 The benchmark of the Fund is Hang Seng Index 
 
Fund Activities 
The average daily trading volume for the E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product during 
the Year was reported by Bloomberg to be approximately HK$ 229,895.  
 
As of 31 December 2019, the E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product comprised of 
10,000,000 outstanding units. 
 
Index Activities 
The Index measures the performance of the largest and most liquid companies listed in Hong Kong. It 
comprises a representative sample of stocks quoted on the SEHK. It is denominated in HK$. The Index was 
launched on 24 November 1969 and had a base level of 100 on 31 July 1964. 
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
REPORT OF THE MANAGER TO THE UNITHOLDERS 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product  
 
Introduction 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product (the “Product”) is a product of E Fund 
Leveraged and Inverse Series, an umbrella unit trust established under Hong Kong law. Units of the Product 
(the “Units”) are traded on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “SEHK”) like stocks. The investment 
objective is to provide Daily investment results, before fees and expenses, which closely correspond to twice 
(2x) the Daily performance of the Hang Seng Index. The Manager of the Product is E Fund Management 
(Hong Kong) Co., Limited and the trustee is Cititrust Limited. 
 
Fund Performance  
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product seeks to provide Daily investment results, 
before fees and expenses, which closely correspond to the inverse (2x) of the Daily performance of the Hang 
Seng Index (the "Index").The Product does not seek to achieve its stated investment objective over a period 
of time greater than one day. As of 31 December 2019, the Net Asset Value per unit of the Product was 
HK$ 6.20 and there were 10,400,000 units outstanding. The total size of the fund was approximately 
HK$ 64.47 million. 
 
A summary of the performance of the Product is given below. 

Cumulative Performance * 

 Since 
Launch1 YTD 1 Month 3 Months 6 Months 1 Year 

Fund (HK$)  -3.7% 16.2% 14.1% -15.2% -4.2% 16.2% 
Index (Price Return) 2 15.1% 9.1% 7.0% 8.0% -1.2% 9.1% 

 
Source: Bloomberg and HSI 
*This is indicative only. The actual figure may be different from the estimated figure and may vary from year 
to year. The estimated ongoing charges figure represents the estimated ongoing expenses chargeable to the 
Product expressed as a percentage of the Product’s estimated average NAV. 
*This is indicative only. The estimated annual daily ongoing charges figure is equal to the estimated ongoing 
charges figure over the first year of listing divided by the anticipated number of dealing days during that year. 
The actual figure may be different from the estimated figure and may vary from year to year. 
**Fund: NAV-to-NAV return, net return with dividend (if any) NOT reinvested. 
1Since launch of the Fund, calculated from 25 Aug 2017.  
Note: 
Past performance information is not indicative of future performance. Investors may not get back the full 
amount invested. The computation basis of the performance is based on the calendar year / period end , NAV-
To-NAV, with dividend not reinvested. These figures show by how much the Fund increased or decreased in 
value during the calendar year / period being shown. 
 
Performance data has been calculated in HK$, including ongoing charges and excluding subscription fee and 
redemption fee you might have to pay. Where no past performance is shown there was insufficient data 
available in that year / period to provide performance. 
2 The benchmark of the Fund is Hang Seng Index 

 
Fund Activities 
The average daily trading volume for the E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
during the Year was reported by Bloomberg to be approximately HK$ 187,321.  
 
As of 31 December 2019, the E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product comprised of 
10,400,000 outstanding units. 
 
Index Activities 
The Index measures the performance of the largest and most liquid companies listed in Hong Kong. It 
comprises a representative sample of stocks quoted on the SEHK.It is denominated in HK$. The Index was 
launched on 24 November 1969 and had a base level of 100 on 31 July 1964. 
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
 

 

 E Fund Yuanta  
Hang Seng Index Daily  
(-1x) Inverse Product 

E Fund Yuanta 
Hang Seng Index Daily  
(2x) Leveraged Product 

  2019 2018  2019 2018 
 Notes HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 

INCOME      

Interest income on bank deposits  131,989   591,605 110,737  434,275 
Net (losses)/gains on financial assets    

and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 

 
 

5 (7,532,516) 5,031,313 8,399,329  (21,305,493) 

Net foreign exchange losses  (115,764)  (53,535) (66,880)  (36,144) 

Other income  10,960  1,782 1,200 - 
Reversal of over-provision of 

establishment costs 
 

97,231 281,000 117,898 214,921 
  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

  (7,408,100) 5,852,165  8,562,284 (20,692,441) 

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

      

EXPENSES      

Management fee 7(a) (413,596)  (972,925) (488,858)  (738,939) 

Trustee fee 7(b) (51,700)  (352,790) (61,107)  (103,667) 

Custody fee  -  (6,591) -  (5,153) 

Transaction costs on investments  (59,442)  (82,298) (118,144)  (116,491) 

Audit fee  (291,166)  (130,500) (251,664)  (131,536) 

Bank charge  (5,740)  (4,308) (5,710)  (16,406) 

Other operating expenses  (815,427)  (979,456) (712,693)  (973,642) 

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

  (1,637,071)  (2,528,868)  (1,638,176)  (2,085,834) 

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

      
Total comprehensive income for the 

year 
 

(9,045,171) 3,323,297 6,924,108  (22,778,275) 
  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 

 
 

 

 E Fund Yuanta  
Hang Seng Index Daily 
(-1x) Inverse Product 

E Fund Yuanta  
Hang Seng Index Daily 
(2x) Leveraged Product 

  2019 2018 2019 2018 
 Note HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
      
Net assets attributable to unitholders 

at the beginning of the year 
 

66,297,235 154,696,378 48,469,055 124,556,330 

      

Subscription of units  -   118,531,800 11,411,040   13,730,000 

Redemption of units  (12,907,280)  (210,254,240) (2,589,600)  (67,039,000) 

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

Net (decrease)/increase from unit 
transactions  (12,907,280)  (91,722,440) 8,821,440  (53,309,000) 

      
Total comprehensive income for the 

year  (9,045,171) 3,323,297 6,924,108  (22,778,275) 

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

Net assets attributable to unitholders 
at the end of the year 4 44,344,784  66,297,235 64,214,603  48,469,055 
  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

      
      

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements.  
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
 
For the year ended 31 December 2019 
 
 

 

 E Fund Yuanta  
Hang Seng Index Daily 
(-1x) Inverse Product 

E Fund Yuanta  
Hang Seng Index Daily 
(2x) Leveraged Product 

  2019 2018 2019 2018 
  HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
      

OPERATING ACTIVITIES      

      
Purchase of financial assets and financial 

liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  (26,196,436) (23,360,232) (36,105,726)  (16,866,103) 
Proceeds from sale of financial assets and 

financial liabilities at fair value through 
profit or loss  8,656,110 61,884,838 33,585,000  19,581,519 

Interest received on bank deposits  131,989 641,137 110,737  442,829 

Other income received  240,241  1,782  192,439 - 

Management fee paid  (427,546)  (1,158,169)  (480,157)  (863,561) 

Transaction costs paid  (59,442)  (82,298)  (118,144)  (116,491) 

Trustee fee paid  (53,441)  (364,612)  (60,017)  (112,233) 
Audit fee, bank charges and other operating 

expenses paid  (1,400,194) (791,192) 
 

 (1,368,489)  (959,172) 

Margin deposit received/(paid)  5,019,082  2,935,234  (42,117)  22,016,268 

Establishment costs paid  (486,156)  (12,250)  (589,489)  (12,250) 

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating 
activities  (14,575,793) 39,694,238  (4,875,963) 23,110,806  

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

      

FINANCING ACTIVITIES      

      

Proceeds from subscription of units  3,799,464  114,732,336  11,411,040  13,730,000 

Payments on redemption of units  (27,525,800)  (195,635,720) (2,589,600)  (67,039,000) 

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

Net cash flows (used in)/from financing 
activities  (23,726,336) (80,903,384) 8,821,440 (53,309,000) 

  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

      
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash 

equivalents 
 

(38,302,129)  (41,209,146) 3,945,477 (30,198,194) 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning 

of the year 
 

54,628,065  95,837,211 25,710,461 55,908,655 
  ────────── ────────── ────────── ────────── 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
year 

 
16,325,936 54,628,065 29,655,938 25,710,461 

  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

Analysis of balances of cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
    

      
Cash at banks  16,325,936 54,628,065 29,655,938 25,710,461 
  ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ ══════════ 

      

 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of these financial statements. 
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION 
 

E Fund Leveraged and Inverse Series (the “Trust”) is an umbrella unit trust constituted by its trust 
deed dated 7 March 2017, as amended by the first supplemental deed dated 7 March 2017 and the 
second supplemental deed dated 12 July 2017, the third supplemental deed dated 4 June 2018, 
amended and restated trust deed dated 3 July 2018 and a further amended and restated trust deed 
dated 31 December 2019 (collectively, the “Trust Deed”) and authorised by the Securities and Futures 
Commission of Hong Kong (the “SFC”) pursuant to section 104(1) of the Hong Kong Securities and 
Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). The terms of the Trust Deed are governed by the laws of Hong Kong. 
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Trust has established two Sub-Funds, namely, E Fund Yuanta 
Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product (“HSII”) and E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) 
Leveraged Product (“HSIL”) (collectively the “Sub-Funds”) which are authorised by the SFC. The date 
of inception of HSII was 20 March 2017 and that of HSIL was 25 August 2017. HSII and HSIL were 
listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (a subsidiary of The Hong Kong Exchange and 
Clearing Limited) on 20 March 2017 and 25 August 2017, respectively. 
 
The manager of the Sub-Funds is E Fund Management (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (the “Manager”). 
Pursuant to the third supplemental deed dated 4 June 2018, HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) 
Limited retired as trustee of the Sub-Funds and Cititrust Limited (the “Trustee”) was appointed as 
trustee of the Sub-Funds with effect from 3 July 2018. Pursuant to Clause 17.2 of the Trust Deed, the 
Manager and the Trustee appointed Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited as the 
Registrar in place of HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited with effect from 3 July 2018. On 
the same day, Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch was appointed as the administrator of the Sub-
Funds. 
 
The investment objective of HSII is to provide investment results that, before deduction of fees and 
expenses, closely correspond to the inverse (-1x) of the daily performance of the Hang Seng Index. 
HSII does not seek to achieve its stated investment objective over a period of time greater than one 
day. 
 
In order to achieve the investment objective of HSII, the Manager will adopt a futures based replication 
strategy through investing directly in spot month Hang Seng Futures (“HSI Futures”) contracts and 
spot month Mini-Hang Seng Index Futures (“Mini-HSI Futures”) contracts that replicate the inverse 
daily performance of the underlying index. 
 
The investment objective of HSIL is to provide investment results that, before deduction of fees and 
expenses, closely correspond to twice (2x) of the daily performance of the Hang Seng Index. HSIL 
does not seek to achieve its stated investment objective over a period of time greater than one day. 
 
In order to achieve the investment objective of HSIL, the Manager will adopt a futures based replication 
strategy through investing directly in spot month HSI Futures contracts and spot month Mini-HSI 
Futures contracts that replicate the leveraged daily performance of the underlying index. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the periods presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 

 
(a) Basis of preparation  

 
The financial statements of the Sub-Funds have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”), and interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretations Committee 
of the IASB and the relevant disclosure provisions of the Trust Deed and the relevant 
disclosure provisions specified in Appendix E of the Code on Unit Trusts and Mutual Fund of 
the SFC (the “SFC Code”).  
 
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for 
financial assets and financial liabilities classified as at fair value through profit or loss (“FVPL”) 
that have been measured at fair value. 

 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also requires the Manager (known as the “Management”) to 
exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Sub-Funds’ accounting policies. 
 
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which 
form the basis of making judgements about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are 
not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The 
areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 3 to these financial 
statements. 
 
All references to Net Asset Value (“NAV”) throughout these financial statements refer to net 
assets attributable to unitholders unless otherwise stated. 
 
 

(b) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures 
 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous year, except for the 
following amendments to IFRSs effective as of 1 January 2019, which is applicable to the 
Sub-Funds: 

 
IFRIC Interpretation 23  Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(b) Changes in accounting policies and disclosures (continued) 
 
  The nature and the impact of the amendments are described below: 
 

IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments  
 
IFRIC Interpretation 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments (the "Interpretation") 
addresses the accounting for income taxes when tax treatments involve uncertainty that 
affects the application of IAS 12 Income Taxes. It does not apply to taxes or levies outside the 
scope of IAS 12, nor does it specifically include requirements relating to interest and penalties 
associated with uncertain tax treatments. The Interpretation specifically addresses the 
following:  
 

• Whether an entity considers uncertain tax treatments separately 
• The assumptions an entity makes about the examination of tax treatments by taxation 

authorities  
• How an entity determines taxable profit (tax loss), tax bases, unused tax losses, 

unused tax credits and tax rates  
• How an entity considers changes in facts and circumstances  

 
The Manager have assessed that the Interpretation does not have a significant impact on 
these financial statements. 

 
(c) Issued but not yet effective IFRSs 

 
 The Sub-Funds have not applied the following new and revised IFRSs that have been issued 

but are not yet effective in these financial statements.  
 
  Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 Definition of Material 
 

 Amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8 provide a new definition of material. The new definition states 
that information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring it could reasonably be expected 
to influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make 
on the basis of those financial statements. The amendments clarify that materiality will depend 
on the nature or magnitude of information. A misstatement of information is material if it could 
reasonably be expected to influence decisions made by the primary users. The Sub-Funds 
expect to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendments are 
not expected to have any significant impact on the Sub-Funds’ financial statements. 

 
Except for the amendments to IFRSs mentioned above, the Manager anticipates that the 
application of all other new and amendments to IFRSs will have no material impact on the 
Sub-Funds’ financial statements. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(d) Financial instruments 
 

(i) Classification 
 
In accordance with IFRS 9, the Sub-Funds classify its financial assets and financial 
liabilities at initial recognition into the categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities discussed below. 
 
In applying that classification, a financial asset or financial liability is considered to be 
held for trading if: 
(a) It is acquired or incurred principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in 

the near term; or 
(b) On initial recognition, it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that 

are managed together and for which, there is evidence of a recent actual pattern 
of short-term profit-taking; or 

(c) It is a derivative (except for a derivative that is a financial guarantee contract or a 
designated and effective hedging instrument) 

 
Financial assets 
The Sub-Funds classify its financial assets as subsequently measured at amortised 
cost or measured at fair value through profit or loss on the basis of both: 
- The entity’s business model for managing the financial assets  
- The contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets 

 
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 
A debt instrument is measured at amortised cost if it is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows 
and its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest ("SPPI")  on the principal amount outstanding. The 
Sub-Funds include in this category, amount due from brokers, subscription 
receivable, other receivables,  and cash and cash equivalents. 
 
 
Financial assets measured at FVPL 
A financial asset is measured at fair value through profit or loss if: 
(a) Its contractual terms do not give rise to cash flows on specified dates that are 

SPPI on the principal amount outstanding; or 
(b) It is not held within a business model whose objective is either to collect 

contractual cash flows, or to both collect contractual cash flows and sell; or 
(c) At initial recognition, it is irrevocably designated as measured at FVPL when 

doing so eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or recognition 
inconsistency that would otherwise arise from measuring assets or liabilities or 
recognising the gains and losses on them on different bases. 

 
The Sub-Funds include in this category equity instruments and debt instruments 
which are acquired principally for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term 
fluctuations in price. This category also includes derivative contracts in an asset 
position. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(d) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(i) Classification (continued) 
 

  Financial liabilities 
 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost 

This category includes all financial liabilities, other than those measured at FVPL. The 
Sub-Funds include in this category management fee payable, trustee fee payable, 
redemption payable and other payables. 

 
 Financial liabilities measured at FVPL 
 A financial liability is measured at FVPL if it meets the definition of held for trading. 
 

The Sub-Funds include derivative contracts in a liability position in this category since 
it is classified as held for trading. 

 
(ii) Recognition 

 
The Sub-Funds recognise a financial asset or a financial liability when it becomes a 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the time 
frame generally established by regulation or convention in the market place (regular 
way trades) are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Sub-Funds commit 
to purchase or sell the asset. 

 
(iii) Initial measurement 

 
Financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL are initially recognised at fair value. 
Transaction costs are expensed in the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities (other than those classified as at FVPL) are measured 
initially at their fair value plus any directly attributable incremental costs of acquisition 
or issue. 
 

(iv) Subsequent measurement  
 
 After initial measurement, the Sub-Funds measure financial instruments which are 

classified as at FVPL, at fair value. Subsequent changes in the fair value of those 
financial instruments are recorded in net gain or loss on financial assets and liabilities 
at FVPL in the statement of comprehensive income. Interest and dividends earned or 
paid on these instruments are recorded separately in interest revenue or expense 
and dividend revenue or expense in the statement of comprehensive income. 

 
 Interest receivable on bank deposits, amounts due from brokers, subscription 

receivable and other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method ("EIR") less any allowance for impairment. Gains and losses are 
recognised in profit or loss when the financial assets are derecognised or impaired, 
as well as through the amortisation process. 

 
 Financial liabilities, other than those classified as at FVPL, are measured at amortised 

cost using the EIR. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the 
liabilities are derecognised, as well as through the amortisation process. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(d) Financial instruments (continued) 
 

(iv) Subsequent measurement (continued) 
 
 The EIR is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial 

liability and of allocating and recognising the interest income or interest expense in 
profit or loss over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset or financial liability to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset 
or to the amortised cost of the financial liability. 

 
 When calculating the effective interest rate, the Sub-Funds estimate cash flows 

considering all contractual terms of the financial instruments but do not consider 
expected credit losses ("ECLs"). The calculation includes all fees paid or received 
between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective interest rate, 
transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 

 
(v) Derecognition 

 

A financial asset (or, where applicable a part of a financial asset or part of a group of 
similar financial assets) is derecognised where the rights to receive cash flows from 
the asset have expired or the Sub-Funds have transferred their rights to receive cash 
flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in 
full without material delay to a third party under a pass through arrangement and 
either: 
 
• the Sub-Funds have transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the 

asset, or  
• the Sub-Funds have neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, but have transferred control of the asset. 
 

 When the Sub-Funds have transferred their rights to receive cash flows from an asset 
(or have entered into a pass-through arrangement), and have neither transferred nor 
retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control 
of the asset, the asset is recognised to the extent of the Sub-Funds’ continuing 
involvement in the asset.  
 

In that case, the Sub-Funds also recognise an associated liability. The transferred 
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and 
obligations that the Sub-Funds have retained. The Sub-Funds derecognise a financial 
liability when the obligation under the liability is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

 
 

(e) Fair value estimation 
 
The Sub-Funds measure their financial assets and financial liabilities at FVPL at fair value at 
each reporting date. 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between the market participants at the measurement date. The fair 
values of financial assets and liabilities traded in active markets (such as publicly traded 
derivatives and trading securities) are based on quoted market prices at the close of trading 
on the reporting date. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(e) Fair value estimation (continued) 
 
The Sub-Funds utilise the last traded market price for both listed financial assets and liabilities 
where the last traded price falls within the bid-ask spread. In circumstances where the last 
traded price is not within the bid-ask spread, the management will determine the point within 
the bid-ask spread that is most representative of fair value. 
 
The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities that are not traded in an active market 
(for example, over-the-counter derivatives) are determined by using broker quotes or valuation 
techniques. Details of the fair value estimation of these securities are discussed in note 9(g) 
of these financial statements. 
 
Investments in investment funds are valued at their last traded prices as provided by the 
administrators of such schemes. Where last traded prices are not available, investments in 
the investment fund are valued at its net asset value per unit as provided by the administrator 
of the investment fund. 

 
All derivative financial instruments are recorded on a mark-to-market basis. Fair values are 
determined by using quoted market prices for futures contracts or calculated by reference to 
changes in specified prices of an underlying asset or otherwise determined notional amount 
for swap contracts. All derivatives are carried as assets when amounts are receivable by the 
Sub-Funds and as liabilities when amounts are payable by the Sub-Funds. 
 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, 
the Sub-Funds determine whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy 
by re-assessing the categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is significant to the 
fair value measurement as a whole) and deems transfers to have occurred at the beginning 
of each reporting period. 

 
(f) Impairment of financial assets 

 
The Sub-Funds apply the expected credit loss model on all the financial assets that are subject 
to impairment. 
 
For amounts due from brokers, subscription receivable, other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents, impairment allowances are recognised under the general approach where ECLs 
are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures where there has not been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Sub-Funds are required to provide for credit 
losses that result from possible default events within the next 12 months. For those credit 
exposures where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure 
irrespective of the timing of the default. 
 
The Sub-Funds’ approach to ECLs reflects a probability-weighted outcome, the time value of 
money and reasonable and supportable information that is available without undue cost or 
effort at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future 
economic conditions. 
 
The Sub-Fund uses the provision matrix as a practical expedient to measure ECLs on interest 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents based on days past due for groupings of 
receivables with similar loss patterns. Receivables are grouped based on their nature. The 
provision matrix is based on historical observed loss rates over the expected life of the 
receivables and is adjusted for forward-looking estimates. 



E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
31 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 

22 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(g) Offsetting financial instruments 
 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the 
statement of financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events 
and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, 
insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty. 

 
 

(h) Interest income 
 

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method. Interest income on bank 
deposits is disclosed separately on the face of the statement of comprehensive income. 
 

 

(i) Expenses 
 

Expenses are accounted for on an accrual basis. 
 
 

(j) Distribution to unitholders 
 

The Manager does not intend to pay or make any distributions or dividends to the Sub-Funds’ 
unitholders. 
 

However, the Manager may pay special dividends upon making an announcement in respect 
of the relevant distribution amount (in HK$ only).  
 

Distributions will not be paid out of capital or effectively out of capital of the Sub-Funds. 
 

 

(k) Amounts due from/to participating dealers 
 

Amounts due from/to participating dealers represent the subscription receivable and 
redemption payable to the participating dealer at the end of the reporting period. The amounts 
are non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. 

 
 

(l) Amounts due from/to brokers 
 

Amounts due from and to brokers represent receivables for securities sold and payables for 
securities purchased that have been contracted for but not yet settled or delivered on the 
reporting date respectively. 
 

Amounts due from brokers include margin accounts that represent cash deposits held with 
brokers as collateral against open futures contracts. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(m) Cash and cash equivalents 
 

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and 
short-term deposits in banks that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which 
are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, with original maturity of three months 
or less.  
 

For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash 
and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts when appropriate. 

 
 (n) Foreign currency translations 

 
Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Sub-Funds operate (the “functional currency”). The 
performance of the Sub-Funds are measured and reported to the unitholders in Hong Kong 
dollars (“HK$”). The Management considers HK$ as the currency that most faithfully 
represents the economic effects of the underlying transactions, events and conditions. 
 

Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign currency assets and liabilities are 
translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate prevailing at the period end 
date. 

 
Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from translation are included in the statement of 
comprehensive income. 
 

Foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the financial assets and liabilities carried at fair 
value through profit or loss are presented in the statement of comprehensive income within 
“net gains/(losses) on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss”. 

 
(o) Redeemable units 

 
The Sub-Funds issue redeemable units which are redeemable at the holder’s option 
represents puttable financial instruments of the Sub-Funds. The Sub-Funds classify their 
puttable financial instruments as equity in accordance with IAS 32 Financial instruments: 
Presentation as those puttable financial instruments meet all the following criteria: 

 

• the puttable financial instruments entitle the holder to a pro-rata share of net asset value; 

• the puttable financial instruments are the most subordinated units in issue and unit 

features are identical; 

• there are no contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset; and 

• the total expected cash flows from the puttable financial instrument over its life are based 

 substantially on the profit or loss of the respective Sub-Funds. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(o) Redeemable units (continued) 
 

In addition to the redeemable units having all of the above features, the Sub-Funds must have 
no other financial instrument or contract that has: 

 

• Total cash flows based substantially on the profit or loss, the change in the recognised 

net assets or the change in the fair value of the recognised and unrecognised net assets 

of the Sub-Funds 

• The effect of substantially restricting or fixing the residual return to the redeemable 

unitholders 
 

The Sub-Funds continuously assess the classification of the redeemable units. If the 

redeemable units cease to have all the features or meet all the conditions set out to be 

classified as equity, the Sub-Funds will reclassify them as financial liabilities and measure 

them at fair value at the date of reclassification, with any differences from the previous 

carrying amount recognised in equity. If the redeemable units subsequently have all the 

features and meet the conditions to be classified as equity, the Sub-Funds will reclassify them 

as equity instruments and measure them at the carrying amount of the liabilities at the date 

of the reclassification. 

 
Units are issued and redeemed at the holder’s option at prices based on the Sub-Funds’ net 
asset value per unit at the time of issue or redemption. The Sub-Funds’ net asset value per 
unit is calculated by dividing the net assets attributable to unitholders with the total number of 
outstanding units. 
 
In accordance with the Prospectus of the Sub-Funds dated 1 December 2017, 14 June 2018 
3 July 2018 and 31 December 2019 (the “Prospectus”), investment positions are valued based 
on the last traded market price for the purpose of determining the net asset value per unit for 
creations and redemptions of the Sub-Funds. 

 
(p) Taxation 
 

In some jurisdictions, dividend income, interest income and capital gains are subject to 
withholding tax deducted at the source of the income. The Sub-Funds present the withholding 
tax separately from the gross investment gains in the statement of comprehensive income.  
 
For the purpose of the statement of cash flows, cash inflows from investments are presented 
net of withholding taxes, when applicable. 

 
(q) Establishment costs 

 
The cost of establishing the Trust and the Sub-Funds including the preparation of the 
prospectus, inception fees, the costs of seeking and obtaining the listing and authorisation by 
the SFC and all initial legal and printing costs including, if considered appropriate by the 
Manager, any additional costs of determining the stock code, will be borne by the Sub-Funds 
and amortised over the first five financial years of the respective Sub-Funds or such other 
period as determined by the Manager. However, with respect to the preparation of the Sub-
Funds’ financial statements in compliance with IFRS, establishment costs are recognised as 
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. 
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2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(r) Transactions costs 
 

Transactions costs are costs incurred to acquire financial assets or liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss. They include fees and commissions paid to agents, brokers and dealers. 
Transactions costs, when incurred, are immediately recognised in profit or loss as an expense. 

 
 (s) Related parties 
 

A party is considered to be related to the Sub-Funds if: 
 

(a)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that person 
(i) has control or joint control over the Sub-Funds; 
(ii) has significant influence over the Sub-Funds; or 
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the Sub-Funds; 

 
or 
 
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies: 

(i) the entity and the Sub-Funds are members of the same group; 
(ii) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a parent, 

subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity); 
(iii) the entity and the group are joint ventures of the same third party; 
(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate 

of the third entity; 
(v) the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of 

either the Sub-Funds or an entity related to the Sub-Funds; 
(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a); 
(vii)  a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a 

member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the 
entity); and 

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key 
management personnel services to the Sub-Funds or to the parent of the 
Sub-Funds. 

 
(t) Structured entities 

 
A structured entity is an entity that has been designed so that voting or similar rights are not 
the dominant factor in deciding who controls the entity, such as when any voting rights relate 
to administrative tasks only and the relevant activities are directed by means of contractual 
arrangements. A structured entity often has some or all of the following features or attributes; 
(a) restricted activities, (b) a narrow and well-defined objective, such as to provide investment 
opportunities for investors by passing on risks and rewards associated with the assets of the 
structured entity to investors, (c) insufficient equity to permit the structured entity to finance its 
activities without subordinated financial support and (d) financing in the form of multiple 
contractually linked instruments to investors that create concentrations of credit or other risks 
(tranches). 

 
The Sub-Funds consider their investments in E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund and 
E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund (2018: E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market 
Fund and E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund) (the "Investee Funds") to be 
investments in unconsolidated structured entities. The Sub-Funds invest in the Investee 
Funds whose objective is to invest in short-term deposits and debt securities. The Investee 
Funds seek to achieve a return in Hong Kong dollars in line with prevailing money market 
rates, with primary considerations of both capital security and liquidity. 
 



E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
31 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 

26 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

(t) Structured entities (continued) 
 

The Investee Funds are managed by the same asset manager and applies various investment 
strategies to accomplish its investment objective. The Investee Funds finance its operations 
by issuing redeemable units which are puttable at the holder's option and entitles the holder 
to a proportional stake in the respective funds’ net assets. The Sub-Funds' interests in the 
Investee Funds are the fair value of the investment in such Investee Funds as at the reporting 
date and the related net (losses)/gains recognised in profit or loss during the year. 

 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS 

 
The Manager makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. Estimates are continually 
evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future 
events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are outlined below. 
 
Assessment of investment funds as structured entities 
The Sub-Funds have assessed whether the Investee Funds in which they invest should be classified 
as a structured entity. The Sub-Funds have considered the voting rights and other similar rights 
afforded to investors in these Investee Funds, including the rights to remove the fund manager or 
redeem holdings. The Sub-Funds have concluded as to whether these rights are the dominant factor 
in controlling the Investee Funds, or whether the contractual agreement with the investee fund 
manager is the dominant factor in controlling these Investee Funds. The Sub-Funds have concluded 
that E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund and E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund are 
structured entities as disclosed in note 2(u) of these financial statements. 
 

 
4. NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE AND NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS PER UNIT 

 
The Sub-Funds’ capital are represented by the units in the Sub-Funds, and shown as “net assets 
attributable to unitholders” in the statement of financial position in accordance with IFRSs (the 
“Accounting NAV”). Subscriptions and redemptions of units during the year are shown in the statement 
of changes in net assets attributable to unitholders. In order to achieve the investment objectives, the 
Sub-Funds endeavour to invest their capital in accordance with the investment policies, whilst 
maintaining sufficient liquidity to meet redemption requests. Such liquidity is augmented by the holding 
of liquid investments. 
 
In accordance with the provisions of the Sub-Funds’ Trust Deed and the Prospectus, investments are 
stated at the official closing price or the last traded price on the market on the valuation day for the 
purpose of determining the net asset value per unit for subscriptions and redemptions and for various 
fee calculations (the “Dealing NAV”). 
  
As stated in note 2(p) of these financial statements, redeemable units of the Sub-Funds are classified 
as equity and they are carried at the redemption amount that would be payable at the reporting date 
if the unitholder exercised the right to redeem the units in the Sub-Funds. 
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4. NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE AND NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS PER UNIT 
 (continued) 
 

The Sub-Funds’ objectives and policies for managing their obligations to redeem units are included in 
note 9(h) of these financial statements on capital risk management. 

 
The movements of the redeemable units for the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 for the 
Sub-Funds are as follows: 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
   
 2019  2018 
   
Number of units in issue at the beginning of the 

year 12,800,000  32,000,000  
Units issued -  24,000,000  
Units redeemed (2,800,000)  (43,200,000) 
 ─────────── ─────────── 

Number of units in issue at the end of the year 10,000,000 12,800,000 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

   
 2019 2018 
 HK$ HK$ 
   
Accounting NAV per unit at the end of the year 4.4345 5.1795 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

Dealing NAV per unit at the end of the year 4.4561 5.2209 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
   
  2019 2018 
   
Number of units in issue at the beginning of the 

year 9,200,000  17,200,000  
Units issued 1,600,000  2,000,000  
Units redeemed (400,000)  (10,000,000) 
 ─────────── ─────────── 

Number of units in issue at the end of the year 10,400,000 9,200,000 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

   

 2019 2018 
 HK$ HK$ 
   
Accounting NAV per unit at the end of the year 6.1745 5.2684 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

Dealing NAV per unit at the end of the year 6.1986 5.3335 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 

  



E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
31 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 

28 

4. NUMBER OF UNITS IN ISSUE AND NET ASSETS ATTRIBUTABLE TO UNITHOLDERS PER UNIT 
(continued) 

 
Reconciliation between net assets attributable to unitholders per the financial statements 
In accordance with the Sub-Funds’ Prospectus, the establishment costs of the Sub-Funds will be 
amortised over the first five years. However, the accounting policy of the Sub-Funds for the purpose 
of the preparation of the financial statements in compliance with IFRSs is to expense establishment 
costs in the statement of comprehensive income as incurred. The differences between expensing the 
establishment costs as incurred in accordance with IFRSs and capitalisation and amortisation of the 
establishment costs indicated in the Sub-Funds’ Prospectus resulted in adjustments in the net asset 
value. 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 

 2019 2018 
 HK$ HK$ 
   
Accounting NAV as reported in the statement of financial 
position 44,344,784 66,297,235 

Adjustment for unamortised establishment costs 313,468 811,285 
Adjustment for reversal of over-provision of establishment 
costs (97,231) (281,000) 

 ─────────── ─────────── 

NAV in accordance with the Sub-Funds’ Prospectus 44,561,021 66,827,520 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 

 2019 2018 
 HK$ HK$ 
   
Accounting NAV as reported in the statement of financial 
position 64,214,603  48,469,055 

Adjustment for unamortised establishment costs 368,351 814,006 
Adjustment for reversal of over-provision of establishment 
costs (117,898) (214,921) 

 ─────────── ─────────── 

NAV in accordance with the Sub-Funds’ Prospectus 64,465,056  49,068,140 
 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 
 

5. NET (LOSSES)/GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
   
 2019 2018 
 HK$ HK$ 

Net realised (losses)/gains on sale of financial assets 
and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or 
loss (9,251,378) 4,527,371 

Net change in unrealised gains on financial assets and 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 1,718,862 503,942 

 ────────── ─────────── 

 (7,532,516) 5,031,313 

 ══════════ ══════════ 
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5. NET (LOSSES)/GAINS ON FINANCIAL ASSETS AND FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued) 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
   
 2019 2018 
 HK$ HK$ 
   

Net realised gains/(losses) on sale of financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss 9,962,750   (20,516,529) 

Net change in unrealised losses on financial 
assets and financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit or loss (1,563,421)  (788,964) 

 ─────────── ─────────── 

 8,399,329  (21,305,493) 

 ═══════════ ═══════════ 

 
6. TAXATION 

 
No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made for the Sub-Funds as the Trust was authorised 
as collective investment schemes under Section 104 of the SFO and the Sub-Funds are therefore 
exempt from Hong Kong profits tax under Section 26A(1A) of the Hong Kong Inland Revenue 
Ordinance. 

 
 
7. TRANSACTIONS WITH THE TRUSTEE, MANAGER AND MANAGER’S CONNECTED PERSONS  

 
The following is a summary of significant related party transactions entered into during the year 
between the Sub-Funds and the Trustee, the Manager and their Connected Persons. Connected 
Persons of the Manager are those as defined in the SFC Code. All transactions entered into during 
the year between the Sub-Funds and the Manager and its Connected Persons were carried out in the 
normal course of business and on normal commercial terms. To the best of the Manager’s knowledge, 
the Sub-Funds do not have any other transactions with Connected Persons and the Trustee and its 
affiliate except for those disclosed below. 

 
(a) Management fee 

 
In accordance with the Prospectus, the maximum management fee is 1.5% per annum of the 
NAV of the Sub-Funds. Currently, the Manager is entitled to receive a management fee equal 
to a percentage of the NAV of each Sub-Fund, accrued daily and calculated as at each dealing 
day and payable monthly in arrears, as follows: 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 0.8% per annum 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 0.8% per annum 

 
For the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Manager was entitled to management 
fees of HK$413,596 (2018: HK$972,925) for HSII and HK$488,858 (2018: HK$738,939) for 
HSIL, respectively. As at 31 December 2019, management fees of HK$32,307 (2018: 
HK$46,257) for HSII and HK$42,725 (2018: HK$34,024) for HSIL were payable to the 
Manager. 
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7. TRANSACTIONS WITH THE TRUSTEE, MANAGER AND MANAGER’S CONNECTED PERSONS 
(continued)  

 
(b) Trustee fee 

 
HSBC Institutional Trust Services (Asia) Limited (the “Former Trustee” and the “Former 
Registrar”) retired as trustee and registrar of the Sub-Funds. With effect from 3 July 2018, 
Cititrust Limited (the “Trustee”) was appointed as trustee of the Sub-Funds and 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited (the “Registrar”) was appointed as 
registrar of the Sub-Funds. The Registrar is not a connected person of the Sub-Funds. 
 
With effect from 3 July 2018, the Trustee received out of the assets of each Sub-Fund a 
monthly trustee’s fee, payable in arrears, accrued daily and calculated as at each dealing day 
of up to 2% per annum of NAV of a Sub-Fund subject to a monthly minimum of USD2,200 
(waived from the 3 July 2018 to 31 December 2019). The Trustee is also entitled to receive a 
transaction fee of HK$105 on each open and closed futures contract of the Sub-Funds 
(subject to a monthly maximum of HK$78,000). 
 
For the period from 20 March 2017 to 2 July 2018, the Former Trustee received out of the 
assets of each Sub-Fund a monthly trustee’s fee, payable in arrears, accrued daily and 
calculated as at each dealing day of up to 2% per annum of NAV of a Sub-Fund subject to a 
monthly minimum of HK$78,000 (waived for 12 months from the listing date). The Former 
Trustee was also entitled to receive a transaction fee of HK$105 on each open and closed 
futures contract of the Sub-Funds (subject to a monthly maximum of HK$78,000). The Former 
Trustee was also entitled to an inception fee for the establishment of the Sub-Funds and to 
be reimbursed out of the assets of the relevant Sub-Funds for all out of pocket expenses 
incurred. The Former Registrar, was entitled to a registrar fee and an administrative 
transaction fee for any creation and redemption of units of the relevant Sub-Funds. The 
Former Registrar was entitled to a fee of HK$150 per Participating Dealer per transaction.  
 
For each Sub-Fund, the Trustee and the Former Trustee are entitled to trustee fees as set out 
below:  
 Trustee Former Trustee 
 Rate per annum Rate per annum 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) 

Inverse Product 0.10%  0.12% 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) 

Leveraged Product 0. 10%  0.12% 
 

For the year ended 31 December 2019, the Trustee was entitled to trustee fee of HK$51,700 
(for the period from 3 July 2018 to 31 December 2018: HK$46,318) and HK$61,107 (for the 
period from 3 July 2018 to 31 December 2018: HK$36,003) for HSII and HSIL, respectively. 
 
For the period from 1 January 2018 to 2 July 2018, the Former Trustee was entitled to trustee 
fee, registrar fee and  handling fees of HK$306,472, HK$900 and HK$11,434 respectively for 
HSII and HK$67,664, HK$450 and HK$19,099 respectively for HSIL. 
 
At 31 December 2019, a trustee fee of HK$3,254 (2018: HK$4,995) and HK$4,822 (2018: 
HK$3,732) were payable to the Trustee for HSII and HSIL, respectively. 
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7. TRANSACTIONS WITH THE TRUSTEE, MANAGER AND MANAGER’S CONNECTED PERSONS 
(continued) 

 
(c) Financial assets, liabilities and bank balances with connected persons 

 
The financial assets and liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and cash and cash 
equivalents of the Sub-Funds held with related parties are as follows: 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 
 2019 2018 
 HK$ HK$ 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   
Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch 21,840,653  13,014,443 
GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd 72,400 - 
 ══════════ ══════════ 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   
GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. -  (1,109,200) 
 ══════════ ══════════ 

Cash and cash equivalents   
Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch 16,325,922 38,660,859 
 ══════════ ══════════ 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 
 2019 2018 
 HK$ HK$ 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss   
Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch 24,714,137 12,013,332 
GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. - 1,564,700 
 ══════════ ══════════ 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss   
GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. (216,900) (850) 
 ══════════ ══════════ 

Cash and cash equivalents   
Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch  13,455,887 14,710,564 
 ══════════ ══════════ 

 
During the year ended 31 December 2019, interest income received on bank deposits 
amounted to HK$131,989 (2018: HK$591,605) and HK$110,737 (2018: HK$434,275) for HSII 
and HSIL respectively. 
 

  



E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
31 DECEMBER 2019 
 
 

32 

7. TRANSACTIONS WITH THE TRUSTEE, MANAGER AND MANAGER’S CONNECTED PERSONS 
(continued) 

 
(d) Establishment costs accrual 

 
The establishment costs accrual included the establishment costs paid by the Manager on 
behalf of the Sub-Funds. At 31 December 2019, no establishment costs (2018: HK$583,387) 
and (2018: HK$707,387) were payable to the Manager for HSII and HSIL respectively. Such 
balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable on demand. 

 
 

(e) Holdings of units 
 

As at 31 December 2019, E Fund (HK) Greater China Top 20 Fund, an investment fund 
managed by the Manager, holds no (2018: 2,039,200) units of HSII. 
 
As at 31 December 2019, E Fund (HK) Greater China Leaders Fund, an investment fund 
managed by the Manager, holds no (2018: 1,287,700) units of HSII. 
 
As at 31 December 2019, E Fund International Holdings Limited, a holding company of the 
Manager, holds 4,800,000 (2018: 4,800,000) units of HSIL. 
 
 

(f) Investments in other collective investment funds managed by the Manager 
 
 As at the end of the reporting year, the Sub-Funds invested in investment funds managed by 

the Manager and the details are as follows: 
 

 Units Fair value 
31 December 2019   
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product   
 E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund 13,000 HK$13,272,818 
 E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund 10,482 HK$8,567,835 
   
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product    
 E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund 12,000 HK$12,251,832 
 E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund 15,246 HK$12,462,305 
   
31 December 2018   
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product   
 E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund 13,000 HK$13,014,443 
   
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product    
 E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund 12,000 HK$12,013,332 
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7. TRANSACTIONS WITH THE TRUSTEE, MANAGER AND MANAGER’S CONNECTED PERSONS 
(continued) 

 
(g) Investment transactions with a connected person of the Manager 
 
 GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd., a connected person of the Manager, rendered brokerage services 

for the Sub-Funds’ purchases and sales of futures. For each HSI Futures and Mini-HSI 
Futures contract, it will be entitled to a commission of HK$35 and HK$30 respectively. During 
the year ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the transaction details were as follows: 

 

 

Aggregate 
value of 

purchases and 
sales 
HK$ 

Total 
commission 

paid 
HK$ 

% of Sub-
Funds’ total 
transactions 

during the 
year 

31 December 2019    
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng 
Index Daily (-1x) Inverse 
Product 39,540,820 50,055 82.17 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng 
Index Daily (2x) Leveraged 
Product 75,387,877 92,930 85.80 

 
31 December 2018    
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng 
Index Daily (-1x) Inverse 
Product 3,503,050 10,845 2.79 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng 
Index Daily (2x) Leveraged 
Product 5,280,380 12,454 2.72 

 
 
8. INVESTMENT IN STRUCTURED ENTITIES 
 
 As at 31 December 2019, HSII and HSIL invest in structured entities namely E Fund (HK) HK Dollar 

Money Market Fund and E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund (2018: E Fund (HK) HK Dollar 
Money Market Fund), the nature of which are money market funds.  

 
During the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018, the realised gains and losses arising from the 
disposal of each of the investments in the Investee Funds of the Sub-Funds are included in “Net 
(losses)/gains on financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss” in the 
statement of comprehensive income. During the year ended 31 December 2019, HSII sold no unit of 
E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund (2018: 72,907 units) and recognised no realised loss/gain 
(2018: HK$708,196). During the year ended 31 December 2019, HSIL sold no unit (2018: 51,035 
units) of E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund and recognised no realised loss/gain (2018: 
HK$578,008).  
 
As at 31 December 2019, HSII’s investment in E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund represents 
29.93% (2018: 19.64%) of its NAV and HSIL’s investment in E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market 
Fund represents 19.08% (2018: 24.78%) of its NAV. 
 
As at 31 December 2019, HSII’s investment in E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund represents 
19.32% (2018: nil) of its NAV and HSIL’s investment in E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund 
represents 19.41% (2018: nil) of its NAV.  
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 

The objective of the Sub-Funds is to provide daily investment results that, before deduction of fees 
and expenses, closely correspond to the inverse (-1x) of the daily performance of the Hang Seng 
Index for HSII and twice (2x) of the daily performance of the Hang Seng Index for HSIL. The Sub-
Funds’ activities may expose them to a variety of risks including but not limited to: market price risk, 
credit and counterparty risk and liquidity risk which are associated with the markets in which the Sub-
Funds invest. 
 

The following is a summary of the main risks and risk management policies. 

 

(a) Market price risk 

 
Market price risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate as a result of 
changes in market prices, whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the 
individual instrument or factors affecting all instruments in the market. 

 
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Sub-Funds’ investments were concentrated as follows: 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 
 As at 31 December 2019 

 
 

Fair value 
 HK$ 

% of net  
assets 

Money market funds   
Hong Kong   
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 21,840,653 49.25 
 ════════ ════ 

   
Futures    
Hong Kong   
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 72,400 0.16 
 ════════ ════ 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(a) Market price risk (continued) 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product (continued) 
 
 As at 31 December 2018 

 
 

Fair value 
 HK$ 

% of net  
assets 

Money market funds   
Hong Kong   
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 13,014,443 19.64 
 ════════ ════ 

   
Futures    
Hong Kong   
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (1,109,200) (1.68) 
 ════════ ════ 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 
 As at 31 December 2019 

 
 

Fair value 
 HK$ 

% of net  
assets 

 
Money market funds   
Hong Kong   
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 24,714,137 38.49 
 ═════════ ════ 

   
Futures    
Hong Kong   
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (216,900) (0.34) 
 ═════════ ════ 

   
 

 As at 31 December 2018 

 
 

Fair value 
 HK$ 

% of net 
assets 

 
Money market funds   
Hong Kong   
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 12,013,332 24.78 
 ═════════ ════ 

   
Futures    
Hong Kong   
Total financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 1,564,700 3.23 
 ═════════ ════ 

   
Futures    
Hong Kong   
Total financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (850) 0.00 
 ═════════ ════ 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(a) Market price risk (continued) 
 

Sensitivity analysis in the event of a possible change in the index by 10% as estimated by the 
Manager 
 
As at 31 December 2019, for HSII, if the Hang Seng Index were to increase by 10% (2018: 

14%) with all other variables held constant, this would decrease the pre-tax profit for the period 

by approximately HK$4,292,891 (2018: HK$9,467,245). Conversely, if the Hang Seng Index 

were to decrease by 10% (2018: 14%), this would increase the pre-tax profit for the year by 

an equal amount. 

 
As at 31 December 2019, for HSIL, if the Hang Seng Index were to increase by 10% (2018: 
14%) with all other variables held constant, this would increase the pre-tax profit for the year 
by approximately HK$12,429,053 (2018: HK$13,842,762). Conversely, if the Hang Seng 
Index were to decrease by 10% (2018: 14%), this would decrease the pre-tax profit for the 
year by an equal amount. 
 
The Manager has used their view of what would be a “reasonable shift” in each key market to 

estimate the change for use in the market sensitivity analysis above. 

 
(b) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes 
in market interest rates. 
 
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Sub-Funds invested in money market funds and were 
indirectly exposed to interest rate risk in respect of the underlying investments in money 
market funds for their fixed income investment portfolios. However, the impact of interest rate 
risk had been taken into consideration through the market price changes in the underlying 
collective investment schemes. 
 
The majority of the Sub-Funds’ other financial assets and liabilities are non-interest-bearing. 
As a result, the Sub-Funds are not subject to significant amounts of risk due to fluctuations in 
the prevailing levels of market interest rates.  
 
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, interest rate risk arises from cash and cash equivalents. 
The Sub-Funds consider that changes in the fair value and future cash flows in the event of a 
change in market interest rates will not be material. Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis has 
been disclosed for these cash and cash equivalents. 
 

(c) Credit risk 
 

Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or counterparty will be unable or unwilling to pay amounts 

in full when due. 
 
The Sub-Funds limit their exposure to credit risk by transacting the majority of their securities 

and contractual commitment activities with broker-dealers, banks and regulated exchanges 

with high credit ratings and that the Sub-Funds consider to be well established. 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(c) Credit risk (continued) 
 

All transactions in securities are settled or paid for upon delivery using approved and 
reputable brokers. The risk of default is considered minimal as delivery of securities sold is 
only made once the broker has received the payment. Payment is made on a purchase once 
the securities have been received by the broker. The trade will fail if either party fails to meet 
its obligation. 
 

The Manager’s policy is to closely monitor the creditworthiness of the Sub-Funds’ 

counterparties (e.g., brokers, custodians and banks) by reviewing their credit ratings, financial 

statements and press releases on a regular basis.  

 

Credit risk disclosures are segmented into two sections based on whether the underlying 

financial instrument is subject to IFRS 9’s impairment disclosures or not. 

 

Financial assets subject to IFRS 9’s impairment requirements  

 

The Sub-Funds’ financial assets subject to the ECL model under IFRS 9 are only cash and 

cash equivalents, other receivables and amounts due from brokers. As at 31 December 2019, 

the total of cash and cash equivalents, other receivables, subscription receivable, and 

amounts due from brokers was HK$23,034,784 (2018: total of HK$70,384,740 on which no 

loss had been incurred) for HSII and HK$40,515,481 (2018: total of HK$36,719,126 on which 

no loss had been incurred) for HSIL on which no loss allowance had been provided for both 

HSII and HSIL. It is considered that there is no material concentration of credit risk within 

these assets. No assets are considered impaired and no amounts have been written off in the 

year. 

 

In calculating the loss allowance, a provision matrix has been used based on historical 

observed loss rates over the expected life of the receivables adjusted for forward-looking 

estimates. Items have been grouped by their nature into the following categories: cash and 

cash equivalents and amounts due from brokers. All the Sub-Fund’s cash and cash 

equivalents are held in major financial institutions located in Hong Kong, which the Manager 

believes are of high credit quality. The Manager considers the Sub-Funds are not exposed to 

significant credit risk and no loss allowance has been made. 

 

Maximum exposure and year-end staging 

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum exposure to credit risk based on 

the Sub-Funds’ credit policy, which is mainly based on past due information unless other 

information is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging classification. 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(c) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) 

 

31 December 2019 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 

 

 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 

 
  

 12-month Lifetime   
 expected expected   
 credit 

losses 
credit losses 

 
 

    Simplified  
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Approach Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
Financial assets      
Amounts due from 

brokers 
                                                    

 
- Not yet past due 6,685,448  - - - 6,685,448 

Other receivables      

- Not yet past due 23,400 - - - 23,400 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

 
 

    
 

- Not yet past due 16,325,936 - - - 16,325,936 

Total 23,034,784 - - - 23,034,784 

 12-month Lifetime   
 expected expected   
 credit losses credit losses   
    Simplified  
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Approach Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
Financial assets      
Amounts due from 

brokers 
     

- Not yet past due 10,847,843 - - - 10,847,843 

Other receivables      

- Not yet past due 11,700 - - - 11,700 

Cash and cash 
equivalents 

     

- Not yet past due 29,655,938 - - - 29,655,938 

Total 40,515,481 - - - 40,515,481 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(c) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (continued) 

 

31 December 2018 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 

 

 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 

 

 

 
  

 12-month Lifetime   
 expected expected   
 credit 

losses 
credit losses 

 
 

    Simplified  
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Approach Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
Financial assets      
Amounts due from 

brokers 
     

- Not yet past due 11,704,530 - - - 11,704,530 
Other Receivables      

- Not yet past due 252,681 - - - 252,681 
Subscription Receivables      

- Not yet past due 3,799,464 - - - 3,799,464 
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
     

- Not yet past due 54,628,065 - - - 54,628,065 

Total 70,384,740 - - - 70,384,740 

 12-month Lifetime   
 expected expected   
 credit losses credit losses   
    Simplified  
 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Approach Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
Financial assets      
Amounts due from 

brokers 
     

- Not yet past due 10,805,726 - - - 10,805,726 
Other Receivables      

- Not yet past due 202,939 - - - 202,939 
Cash and cash 

equivalents 
     

- Not yet past due 25,710,461 - - - 25,710,461 

Total 36,719,126 - - - 36,719,126 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(c) Credit risk (continued) 

 

Financial assets not subject to IFRS 9’s impairment requirements 

The Sub-Funds are exposed to credit risk on equity securities. This class of financial assets 

is not subject to IFRS 9’s impairment requirements as they are measured at FVPL. The 

carrying value of these assets under IFRS 9 represents the Sub-Funds’ maximum exposure 

to credit risk on financial instruments not subject to IFRS 9’s impairment requirements on the 

respective reporting dates. Hence, no separate maximum exposure to credit risk disclosure is 

provided for these instruments. 

 

The Sub-Funds’ financial assets which are potentially subject to concentration of credit risk 

consist principally of bank deposits and assets held with the custodian and broker. 
 

The tables below summarise the credit ratings of the custodian, broker and bank with which 

the Sub-Funds’ major assets are held. 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 

     
  HK$ Credit rating Source 
 At 31 December 2019    
     
 Custodian and broker    
 Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch 38,166,575 A-1 S&P  
 GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. 6,757,848 AAA China Chengxin 

 
  HK$ Credit rating Source 
 At 31 December 2018    
     
 Custodian and broker    
 Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch 51,675,303 A S&P  
 GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. 11,704,530 AAA China Chengxin 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 

     
  HK$ Credit rating Source 
 At 31 December 2019    
     
 Custodian and broker    
 Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch 38,170,024 A-1 S&P  
 GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. 10,847,843 AAA China Chengxin 
 Bank    
 Standard Chartered Bank (Hong Kong) 

Limited 
16,200,000 A-1 S&P 

  HK$ Credit rating Source 
 At 31 December 2018    
     
 Custodian and broker    
 Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch 26,723,896 A S&P 
 GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. 12,370,426 AAA China Chengxin 

 
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Sub-Funds invested in money market funds. The 
credit risk exposure from the investment in money market funds is considered insignificant. 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(d) Liquidity risk 

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that an enterprise will encounter difficulty in settling a liability, including 

a redemption request. 

 

The Sub-Funds are exposed to daily redemptions of units in the Sub-Funds. The Sub-Funds 

invest the majority of their assets in investments that are traded in an active market which can 

be readily disposed of. The Sub-Funds’ securities are considered readily realisable, as they 

are listed. It is the intent of the Manager to monitor the Sub-Funds’ liquidity positions on a 

daily basis. 

 

The expected liquidity of all financial assets held as at 31 December 2019 and 31 December 

2018 and the contractual undiscounted cash flow projections of all financial liabilities are within 

three months or less. The Sub-Funds manage their liquidity risk by investing in securities that 

they expect to be able to liquidate within three months or less. Balances due within 12 months 

equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant. 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 

      
  

 
On 

demand 

 
 

Less than 3 
months 

 
3 months to 
less than 1 

year 

 
 
 

Over 1 year 

 
 
 

Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
      
As at 31 December 2019      
Management fee payable   -   32,307   -   -   32,307 
Trustee fee payable -   3,254   -   -   3,254   
Other payables - 567,492 - - 567,492 
 ─────── ───────── ─────── ───────── ────────── 

Total - 603,053 - - 603,053 
 ═══════

══ 
═════════

═══ 
═══════ ═════════ ══════════ 

 
 
      
As at 31 December 2018      
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or 
loss   - 1,109,200   -   - 1,109,200 

Management fee payable -    46,257  -   -    46,257  
Trustee fee payable - 4,995  - - 4,995  
Redemption payable - 14,618,520 - - 14,618,520 
Other payables - 739,589 - - 739,589 
 ─────── ───────── ─────── ───────── ───────── 

Total - 16,518,561 - - 16,518,561 
 ═══════

══ 
══════════

══ 
═══════ ═════════ ══════════ 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(d) Liquidity risk (continued)  
 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 

  
 

On 
demand 

 
 

Less than 3 
months 

 
3 months 

to less than 
1 year 

 
 
 

Over 1 year 

 
 
 

Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
      
As at 31 December 2019      
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or 
loss   - 216,900   -   - 216,900 

Management fee payable -     42,725   -   -     42,725   
Trustee fee payable -   4,822 - -   4,822 
Other payables - 750,568 - - 750,568 
 ─────── ───────── ─────── ───────── ───────── 

Total - 1,015,015 - - 1,015,015 
 ═══════

══ 
══════════

══ 
═══════ ═════════ ══════════ 

 
 
      
As at 31 December 2018      
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or 
loss   - 850   -   - 850 

Management fee payable -    34,024  -   -    34,024  
Trustee fee payable -  3,732  - -  3,732  
Other payables - 1,082,110 - - 1,082,110 
 ─────── ───────── ─────── ───────── ───────── 

Total - 1,120,716 - - 1,120,716 
 ═══════

══ 
══════════

══ 
═══════ ═════════ ══════════ 

 
 
The Sub-Funds manage their liquidity risk by investing in investments that they expect to be 

able to liquidate within 3 months or less. The following table illustrates the expected liquidity 

of assets held: 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 

     
 On demand or 

less than 3 
months 

 
3 months to less 

than 1 year 

 
 

Over 1 year 

 
 

Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
     
As at 31 December 2019     
     
Total assets 44,947,837 - - 44,947,837 
 ══════════ ═════════ ═════════ ══════════ 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(d) Liquidity risk (continued) 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product (continued) 

     
 On demand or 

less than 3 
months 

 
3 months to less 

than 1 year 

 
 

Over 1 year 

 
 

Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
     
As at 31 December 2018     
     
Total assets 83,399,183 - - 83,399,183 
 ══════════ ═════════ ═════════ ══════════ 
 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 

     
 On demand or 

less than 3 
months 

3 months to less 
than 1 year 

 
Over 1 year 

 
 

Total 
 HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ 
     
As at 31 December 2019     
     
Total assets 65,229,618 - - 65,229,618 
 ══════════ ═════════ ═════════ ══════════ 
 

     
     
As at 31 December 2018     
     
Total assets 50,297,158 - - 50,297,158 
 ══════════ ═════════ ═════════ ══════════ 
 
 

(e) Offsetting and amounts subject to master netting arrangements and similar 

agreements 
 
As at 31 December 2019 and 2018, the Sub-Funds were not subject to master netting 
arrangements for the derivative assets and liabilities of the Sub-Funds held with the 
counterparties. 

 
(f) Currency risk 

 
Currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in foreign exchange rates. 
 
The Sub-Funds hold assets and liabilities denominated in HK$, which is their functional 
currency, and United States dollars. The Manager considers that there is no currency risk to 
the United States dollar which is pegged to HK$. As a result, the Sub-Funds were not exposed 
to significant currency risk as at 31 December 2019 and 2018.  
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(g) Fair value estimation 
 

The Sub-Funds classify fair value measurements using a fair value hierarchy that reflects the 
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy has the 
following levels: 
 

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1) 

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset 
or liability, either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 
2) 

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, 
unobservable inputs) (Level 3) 

 
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurement is categorised in 
its entirety is determined on the basis of the lowest level input that is significant to the fair 
value measurement in its entirety. For this purpose, the significance of an input is assessed 
against the fair value measurement in its entirety. If a fair value measurement uses observable 
inputs that require significant adjustment based on unobservable inputs, that measurement is 
a Level 3 measurement. Assessing the significance of a particular input to the fair value 
measurement in its entirety requires judgement, considering factors specific to the asset or 
liability. 

 
The determination of what constitutes “observable” requires significant judgement by the Sub-

Funds. The Sub-Funds consider observable data to be the market data that is readily 

available, regularly distributed or updated, reliable and verifiable, not proprietary, and provided 

by independent sources that are actively involved in the relevant market. 
 

The following table analyses within the fair value hierarchy the Sub-Funds’ investments (by 

class) measured at fair value as at 31 December 2019 and 2018: 
 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 

 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets  

Significant 
observable 

inputs  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs   

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

 HK$  HK$  HK$  HK$ 

As at 31 December 2019        
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss        

- Money market instrument -  21,840,653   -  21,840,653 

- Futures contracts 72,400  -  -  72,400 

 72,400  21,840,653   -  21,913,053 
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(g) Fair value estimation (continued)  
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product (continued) 
 

 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets  

Significant 
observable 

inputs  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs   

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

 HK$  HK$  HK$  HK$ 

As at 31 December 2018        
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss        

- Money market instrument -  13,014,443  -  13,014,443 

 -  13,014,443  -  13,014,443 

 
As at 31 December 2018        
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss        

- Futures contracts (1,109,200)  -  -  (1,109,200) 

 (1,109,200)  -  -  (1,109,200) 

 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 

 

 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets  

Significant 
observable 

inputs  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs   

 Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  Total 

 HK$  HK$  HK$  HK$ 
        

As at 31 December 2019        
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss        

- Money market instrument -  24,714,137   -  24,714,137 

 -  24,714,137  -  24,714,137  
 

 
As at 31 December 2019        
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss        

- Futures contracts (216,900)   -  -  (216,900)  

 (216,900)   -  -  (216,900)  
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9. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(g) Fair value estimation (continued) 
 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product (continued) 
 

 

Quoted prices 
in active 
markets 

     Level 1 
         HK$  

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
     Level 2 
         HK$  

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
    Level 3 
        HK$  

Total 
HK$                       

        

As at 31 December 2018        
Financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss        

- Money market instrument -  12,013,332  -  12,013,332 

- Futures contracts 1,564,700  -  -  1,564,700 

 1,564,700  12,013,332  -  13,578,032 
 

 
As at 31 December 2018        
Financial liabilities at fair 

value through profit or loss        

- Futures contracts (850)  -  -  (850) 

 (850)  -  -  (850) 

 
Investments whose values are based on quoted market prices in active markets, and therefore 

classified within Level 1, including active-listed and quoted future contracts. The Sub-Funds 

do not adjust the quoted prices for these instruments. 
 
Financial instruments traded in markets that are not considered to be active but are valued 

based on quoted market prices, dealer quotations or alternative pricing sources supported by 

observable inputs are classified within Level 2, including money market instruments.  

 

Investments classified within Level 3 have significant unobservable inputs, as they trade 

infrequently. As at 31 December 2019, the Sub-Funds did not hold any investments classified 

under Level 3 (2018: Nil). 
 

There were no transfers between levels for HSII and HSIL during the years ended 31 

December 2019 and 2018. 
 

 (h) Capital risk management 
 
The Sub-Funds’ capital is represented by the redeemable units outstanding. The Sub-Funds’ 
objective is to provide investment results that correspond generally to the performance of the 
index. The Manager may: 
• Redeem and issue new units in accordance with the constitutive documents of the Sub-

Funds; 

• Exercise discretion when determining the amounts of distributions of the Sub-Funds to 

the unitholders; and 

• Suspend the creation and redemption of units under certain circumstances stipulated in 

the Prospectus of the Sub-Funds. 
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10. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
 
The derivative financial instruments held by the Sub-Funds as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are 
summarised as follows: 
 
Futures 
Futures contracts are commitments to make or take future delivery of various commodities, currencies 
or financial instruments at a specified time and place. These commitments can be discharged by 
making or taking delivery of an approved grade of commodity, currency and financial instrument by 
cash settlement or by making an offsetting sale or purchase of an equivalent futures contract on the 
same (or a linked) exchange prior to the designated date of delivery.  

 
The details of futures contracts as at 31 December 2019 and 2018 are as follows: 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 
As at 31 December 2019 

Description 
No. of 

Contracts 
Notional market 

value HK$ Position Counterparty 
Fair value 

HK$ 
      
HANG SENG INDEX 

01/30/20 (31) (43,890,250) Short GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. 71,750 
MINI HSI IDX FUT 

01/30/20 (2) (566,050) Short GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. 650 
     ──────── 

     72,400 
     ════════ 

 
As at 31 December 2018 

Description 
No. of 

Contracts 
Notional market 

value HK$ Position Counterparty 
Fair value 

HK$ 
      
HANG SENG INDEX 

01/30/19 (50) (63,550,250) Short GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. (1,084,750) 
MINI HSI IDX FUT 

01/30/19 (7) (1,785,330) Short GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. (24,450) 
     ──────── 

     (1,109,200) 
     ════════ 

 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 
As at 31 December 2019 

   
No. of 

Contracts 
Notional market 

value HK$ Position Counterparty 
Fair value 

HK$ 
HANG SENG INDEX 
01/30/20 91 128,845,400 Long GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. (216,900) 
     ──────── 

     (216,900) 
     ════════ 
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10. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 
  

Futures (continued) 
 

E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product (continued) 
 

As at 31 December 2018 

   
No. of 

Contracts 
Notional market 

value HK$ Position Counterparty 
Fair value 

HK$ 
      
HANG SENG INDEX 

01/30/19 75 95,387,800 Long GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. 1,564,700 
MINI HSI IDX FUT 

01/30/19 (4) (1,035,010) Short GF Futures (HK) Co. Ltd. (850) 
     ──────── 

     1,563,850 
     ════════ 

 
Included in amounts due from brokers are margin accounts which represent margin deposits held in 
respect of open futures contracts. As at 31 December 2019, HSII held margin deposits of 
HK$6,685,448 (2018: HK$11,704,530) where the margin requirement was HK$3,976,559 (2018: 
HK$4,249,381) and HSIL held margin deposits of HK$10,847,843 (2018: HK$10,805,726) where the 
margin requirement was HK$11,524,422 (2018: HK$6,266,598). 

 
 

11.  CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  
 

Cash at banks earn interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. The bank balances 
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default. 
 
 

12.  SOFT COMMISSION ARRANGEMENT 
 

The Manager confirms that there has been no soft commission arrangement existing during the years 
ended 31 December 2019 and 2018 in relation to directing transactions of the Sub-Funds through a 
broker or dealer. 
 

 

13. SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 

The Manager makes the strategic resource allocations on behalf of the Sub-Funds and has 
determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed which are used to make strategic 
decisions. 
 
The Manager considers that each Sub-Fund has a single operating segment which is investing in 
futures as the Manager adopts a futures-based replication investment strategy to achieve the 
investment objective of the respective Sub-Funds’ segments. The objectives of the Sub-Funds are to 
provide investment results that, before deduction of fees and expenses, closely correspond to the 
inverse (-1x) or twice (2x) the daily performance of the underlying index relevant to each Sub-Fund as 
disclosed in note 1. 
 
The internal financial information used by the Manager for the Sub-Funds’ assets, liabilities and 
performance is the same as that disclosed in the statement of changes in net assets attributable to 
unitholders and the statement of comprehensive income. 
 
There were no changes in the reportable segment during the year. 
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13. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 
 

The Sub-Funds are domiciled in Hong Kong. Most of the Sub-Funds’ income is derived from 
investments in financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss. The Sub-
Funds have no assets or liabilities classified as non-current. 
 
Both of the Sub-Funds held two (2018: one) investment accounts with more than 10% of their net 
asset value as at 31 December 2019. 

 
 
14. DISTRIBUTION TO UNITHOLDERS 

 
There was no distribution (2018: nil) to unitholders for the Sub-Funds during the year ended 31 
December 2019. 

 
 
15. INVESTMENT LIMITATION AND PROHIBITIONS UNDER THE SFC CODE 
 

As stated in the Prospectus, at least 80% of the NAV of HSII and 90% of the NAV of HSIL (this 
percentage may be reduced proportionately under exceptional circumstances where there is a higher 
margin requirement) will be invested in cash (Hong Kong dollar or United States dollar), such as 
deposits with banks in Hong Kong, and Hong Kong dollar or United States dollar, denominated 
investment products, of which up to 50% of the NAV of HSII and 60% of the NAV of HSIL may be 
invested in SFC authorised money market funds and other money market funds (either recognised 
jurisdiction money market funds or non-recognised jurisdiction money market funds) in accordance 
with the requirements of the SFC Code. 
 
As at 31 December 2019, the Sub-Funds’ investments in E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund   
and E Fund (HK) US Dollar Money Market Fund (2018: E Fund (HK) HK Dollar Money Market Fund) 
represented 29.93% and 19.32% (2018: 19.64%) of the NAV of HSII and 19.08% and 19.41% (2018: 
24.78%) of that of HSIL. 
 
The Manager will not invest the Sub-Funds in any financial derivative instruments (including structured 
products or instruments) other than HSI Futures for hedging or non-hedging (i.e. investment) purposes. 
The Manager will seek the prior approval of the SFC and provide at least one month’s prior notice to 
unitholders (if such approval and notification is required) before the Manager engages in any such 
investments. The Sub-Funds will not enter into securities lending, repurchase, reverse-repurchase 
transactions or other similar over-the counter transactions.  
 
As the Manager expects that the aggregate margin requirement for the futures contracts that the Sub-
Funds will invest may be as high as 20% for HSII and 25% for HSIL in order to obtain the required 
exposure to the Hang Seng Index,  the Manager has applied to the SFC, and the SFC has granted, a 
waiver in respect of the Sub-Funds from the requirement under Chapter 8.4A(e) of the Code, that the 
Sub-Funds may not hold open positions in any futures contract for which the combined margin 
requirement represents 5% or more of the NAV of the Sub-Funds, subject to certain conditions as 
stated in the Prospectus. Details of the Sub-Funds’ margin requirements as at 31 December 2019 and 
2018 are disclosed in note 10 to these financial statements. 
 
The Manager and the Trustee have confirmed that the Sub-Funds have complied with these limitations 
during the years ended 31 December 2019 and 2018. 
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16. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
The outbreak of Coronavirus Disease ("COVID-19 outbreak") in early 2020 has had a significant 
impact on global financial markets. The Manager will pay close attention to the development of the 
COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on the financial position and operating results of the Sub-
Funds. During the period between the end of the reporting period and the date of approval of these 
financial statements, the Index has dropped by 12.82% while the published NAV price increased by 
9.43% for HSII and decreased by 26.29% for HSIL. This is considered to be a non-adjusting event 
after the reporting period.  
 
The Manager will continue to remain alert to the situation and monitor the subscriptions and 
redemptions of the Sub-Funds. During the period between the end of the reporting period and the 
date of approval of these financial statements, there were net redemptions of 2,800,000 and 1,200,000 
units for HSII and HSIL, respectively. 

 
There were no other events that occurred after 31 December 2019 through the date these financial 
statements were authorised for issuance that would require adjustments or additional disclosure in 
these financial statements. 

 

 

17. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

The financial statements were approved by the Manager on 28 April 2020. 
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (unaudited) 
As at 31 December 2019 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 
 
Investment funds   Holdings 

Fair value 
HK$ 

 % of net 
assets 

Hong Kong       
E FUND (HK) HK DOLLAR MONEY 

MARKET FUND   
                                                                     

13,000  13,272,818   29.93% 
E FUND (HK) US DOLLAR MONEY 

MARKET FUND   
                                                                     

10,482  8,567,835   19.32% 

    21,840,653  49.25% 

       

Futures contracts  Expiration date Contracts    

Hong Kong       

HANG SENG INDEX 01/30/20  30/01/2020 (31) 71,750  0.17% 

MINI HSI IDX FUT 01/30/20  30/01/2020 (2) 650  0.00% 

    72,400  0.17% 

       

Total investments at fair value    21,913,053  49.42% 

       

Other net assets    22,431,731   50.58% 

       
Net assets attributable to unitholders 

at 31 December 2019    44,344,784   100.00% 

       

Total investments, at cost    21,580,678    

       
       
       
 
 
 
 



 

52 

E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (unaudited) (continued) 
As at 31 December 2019 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 
 
 
       
 
 
Investment funds   Holdings 

Fair value 
HK$ 

 
% of net 

assets 

Hong Kong       
E FUND (HK) HK DOLLAR MONEY 

MARKET FUND   
                    

12,000  
                  

12,251,832   19.08% 
E FUND (HK) US DOLLAR MONEY 

MARKET FUND   
                    

15,246  
                  

12,462,305   19.41% 

    24,714,137  38.49% 

       

Futures contracts  Expiration date Contracts    

Hong Kong       

HANG SENG INDEX 01/30/20  30/01/2020 91 (216,900)  (0.34%) 

    (216,900)  (0.34%) 

       

Total investments at fair value    24,497,237  38.15% 

       

Other net assets    39,717,366  61.85% 

       
Net assets attributable to unitholders 

at 31 December 2019    64,214,603  100.00% 

       

Total investments, at cost    24,480,986   
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (unaudited) 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
Year ended 31 December 2019 
 

   Holdings   

 
 

1 January  
2019  Additions Disposals 

Corporate 
action 

31 December 
2019 

      

Money market funds      

Hong Kong      
E FUND (HK) HK DOLLAR MONEY 

MARKET FUND  13,000   -     -     -     13,000 
E FUND (HK) US DOLLAR MONEY 

MARKET FUND  -     10,482   -     -     10,482 

      

Futures contracts      

Hong Kong      

HANG SENG INDEX 01/30/19  (50)  54   4   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 02/27/19  -     46   46   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 03/28/19  -     43   43   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 04/29/19  -     37   37   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 05/30/19  -     38   38   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 06/27/19  -     39   39   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 07/30/19  -     37   37   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 08/29/19  -     37   37   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 09/27/19  -     39   39   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 10/30/19  -     37   37   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 11/28/19  -     38   38   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 12/30/19  -     36   36   -     -    

HANG SENG INDEX 01/30/20  -     -     31   -     (31) 

MINI HSI IDX FUT 01/30/19  (7)  17   10   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 02/27/19  -     26   26   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 03/28/19  -     16   16   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 04/29/19  -     17   17   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 05/30/19  -     20   20   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 06/27/19  -     21   21   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 07/30/19  -     17   17   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 08/29/19  -     30   30   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 09/27/19  -     23   23   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 10/30/19  -     23   23   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 11/28/19  -     18   18   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 12/30/19  -     19   19   -     -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 01/30/20                -                    1                  3                 -                  (2) 
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
STATEMENT OF MOVEMENTS IN INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO (unaudited) (continued) 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
Year ended 31 December 2019 
 

   Holdings   

 
 

1 January  
2019 Additions Disposals 

Corporate 
action 

31 December 
2019 

      

Money market funds      

Hong Kong      
E FUND (HK) HK DOLLAR MONEY 

MARKET FUND      12,000                 -                   -                   -         12,000  
E FUND (HK) US DOLLAR MONEY 

MARKET FUND                -         15,246                 -                   -         15,246  

      

Futures contracts      

Hong Kong      

HANG SENG INDEX 01/30/19               75                  5                80                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 02/27/19                -                  83                83                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 03/28/19                -                  85                85                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 04/29/19                -               101             101                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 05/30/19                -               101             101                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 06/27/19                -                  98                98                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 07/30/19                -               100             100                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 08/29/19                -                  94                94                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 09/27/19                -                  88                88                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 10/30/19                -                  87                87                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 11/28/19                -                  92                92                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 12/30/19                -                  92                92                 -                   -    

HANG SENG INDEX 01/30/20                -                  91                 -                   -                  91  

MINI HSI IDX FUT 01/30/19                 4                21                25                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 02/27/19                -                  19                19                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 03/28/19                -                  18                18                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 04/29/19                -                  18                18                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 05/30/19                -                  20                20                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 06/27/19                -                  21                21                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 07/30/19                -                  23                23                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 08/29/19                -                  25                25                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 09/27/19                -                  20                20                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 10/30/19                -                  28                28                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 11/28/19                -                  23                23                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 12/30/19                -                  15                15                 -                   -    

MINI HSI IDX FUT 01/30/20                -                    2                  2                 -                   -    
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
PERFORMANCE RECORD (unaudited) 
 
Net Asset Value 
(Calculated in accordance with Sub-Fund’s Prospectus) 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 
 

 
Net asset value of 

the Sub-Fund 
Net asset value 

per unit 
  HK$ HK$ 
    
At the end of financial year dated    
    
31 December 2019 (Dealing NAV)  44,561,021 4.4561 
    
31 December 2018 (Dealing NAV)  66,827,520 5.2209 
    
31 December 2017 (Dealing NAV)  155,760,337 4.8675 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 
 

 
Net asset value of 

the Sub-Fund 
Net asset value 

per unit 
  HK$ HK$ 
    
At the end of financial year dated    
    
31 December 2019 (Dealing NAV)  64,465,056   6.1986 
    
31 December 2018 (Dealing NAV)  49,068,140 5.3335 
    
31 December 2017 (Dealing NAV)  125,652,141 7.3054 
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
PERFORMANCE RECORD (unaudited) (continued) 
 
Highest Issue Price and Lowest Redemption Price Per Unit 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product 
 
 

 
Highest issue  
price per unit 

Lowest redemption  
price per unit 

  HK$ HK$ 
    
Financial year ended    
    
31 December 2019  5.3972 4.4143 
    
31 December 2018  5.5611 4.3905 
    
31 December 2017 (since inception)  6.3613* 4.8499 
 
E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (2x) Leveraged Product 
 
 

 
Highest issue  
price per unit 

Lowest redemption  
price per unit 

  HK$ HK$ 
    
Financial year ended    
    
31 December 2019  7.1598 4.9718 
    
31 December 2018  8.9354 4.9253 
    
31 December 2017 (since inception)  7.4318 6.1687 
 
*Effective 15 May 2017, HSII sub-divided its units into two sub-divided units as the application unit size was 
increased from 200,000 units to 400,000 sub-divided units. Accordingly, the trading lot value was halved 
and the number of trading board lots held by each existing unitholder was doubled. 
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION 
 
Manager Service Agent/Conversion Agent 
E Fund Management (Hong Kong) Co., Limited HK Conversion Agency Services Limited 
35/F, Suites 3501- 02 1/F, One & Two Exchange Square 
Two International Finance Centre 8 Connaught Place  
8 Finance Street  Central, Hong Kong 
Central, Hong Kong  
  
Trustee  Listing Agent 
Cititrust Limited  GF Capital (Hong Kong) Limited 
50/F, Champion Tower 29-30/F, Li Po Chun Chambers 
Three Garden Road 189 Des Voeux Road  
Central, Hong Kong Central, Hong Kong 
  
Administrator  Legal Counsel to the Manager 
Citibank, N.A., Hong Kong Branch Simmons & Simmons 
50/F, Champion Tower 30/F, One Taikoo Place 
Three Garden Road 979 King’s Road 
Central, Hong Kong Hong Kong 
  
Registrar  Auditor 
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited Ernst & Young 
46/F, Hopewell Centre 22/F, CITIC Tower 
183 Queen's Road East  1 Tim Mei Avenue 
Wan Chai, Hong Kong Hong Kong 
  
Investment Adviser Directors of the Manager 
Yuanta Securities Investment Trust Co., Ltd Liu Xiaoyan 
11/F, No.219, Sect. 3 Ma Jun 
Nanjing E. Rd. Chen Liyuan  
Taipei, 104  Chen Rong  
Taiwan  Huang Gaohui  
 Fan Yue  
 Zhang Youzao  
  
Custodian  Participating Dealers 
Citibank N.A., Hong Kong Branch ABN AMRO Clearing Hong Kong Limited 
50/F, Champion Tower 70/F, International Commerce Centre 
Three Garden Road 1 Austin Road West 
Central,Hong Kong Kowloon, Hong Kong  
  
GF Securities (Hong Kong) Brokerage Limited BOCI Securities Limited 
29 & 30/F, Li Po Chun Chambers 20/F, Bank of China Tower 
189 Des Voeux Road  1 Garden Road 
Central, Hong Kong  Central, Hong Kong 
  

 China Merchants Securities (HK) Co Limited 
 48/F, One Exchange Square 
 Central, Hong Kong 
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E FUND LEVERAGED AND INVERSE SERIES 
 
MANAGEMENT AND ADMINISTRATION (continued) 
 
Participating Dealers (continued)  
Citigroup Global Markets Asia Limited  
50/F, Champion Tower  
Three Garden Road   
Central, Hong Kong   
  
CSC Securities (Hong Kong) Limited*  
Units 3201-07, Cosco Tower  
183 Queen’s Road   
Central, Hong Kong  
  
Essence International Securities (Hong Kong) Limited*  
39/F, One Exchange Square  
Central, Hong Kong  
  
GF Securities (Hong Kong) Brokerage Limited  
29 & 30/F, Li Po Chun Chambers  
189 Des Voeux Road   
Central, Hong Kong   
  
Haitong International Securities Company Limited  
22/F, Li Po Chun Chambers  
189 Des Voeux Road   
Central, Hong Kong  
  
UBS Securities Hong Kong Limited  
46-52/F, Two International Finance Centre  
8 Finance Street  
Central, Hong Kong   
  
Market Makers  
Flow Traders Hong Kong Limited  
Room 2803 Hysan Place,  
500 Hennessy Road, 

 

Causeway Bay Hong Kong  
  
Haitong International Securities Company Limited  
22/F, Li Po Chun Chambers  
189 Des Voeux Road  
Central, Hong Kong  
  
Head & Shoulders Securities Limited  
Room 2511, 25/F Cosco Tower  
183 Queen's Road Central  
Hong Kong  
  
SG Securities (HK) Limited  
Level 19, Three Pacific Place  
1 Queen’s Road East;  
Hong Kong  
  
  
* For the E Fund Yuanta Hang Seng Index Daily (-1x) Inverse Product only. 
 
 


